AGREEMENT

Between

THE EXETER COOPERATIVE PARAPROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION

And

THE EXETER REGION COOPERATIVE SCHOOL BOARD

2022 - 2026

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Contents		
Article 1.	PREAMBLE	3
Article 2.	RECOGNITION	3
Article 3.	NEGOTIATING PROCEDURES	3
Article 4.	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	4
Article 5.	ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	5
Article 6.	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	6
Article 7.	DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES	9
Article 8.	PROBATIONARY PERIOD AND CONTINUATION OF BENEFITS	9
Article 9.	LETTER OF AGREEMENT	10
Article 10.	TRANSFERS	10
Article 11.	EMPLOYEE RIGHTS AND PROTECTIONS	11
Article 12.	WORK DAYS, HOURS, CONDITIONS	11
Article 13.	COMPENSATION	13
Article 14.	INSURANCE	15
Article 15.	LEAVES	15
Article 16.	EVALUATIONS	19
Article 17.	DUES AND DEDUCTIONS	19
Article 18.	REDUCTION IN FORCE	20
Article 19.	COURSE REIMBURSEMENT AND WORKSHOPS	21
Article 20.	RETIREMENT	21
Article 21.	MISCELLANEOUS,	22
Article 22.	SEPARABILITY	22
Article 23.	DURATION	22

Article 1. PREAMBLE

Section 1.01 The Exeter Region Cooperative School Board (hereinafter "the School Board") and the Exeter Cooperative Paraprofessional Association (hereinafter "The Association") hereby enter into the following Agreement.

Article 2. RECOGNITION

Section 2.01 The School Board recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining representative of those Exeter Region Cooperative School District employees holding positions for which the New Hampshire Public Employee Labor Relations Board (PELRB) has certified the Association as the exclusive bargaining representative.

Section 2.02 In Decision No. 2005-078, the PELRB included instructional aide and instructional assistant positions in the bargaining unit.

Section 2.03 As used in this Agreement, "instructional assistant" means computer lab assistants, library assistants and alternative education assistants.

Section 2.04 As used in this Agreement, "instructional aide" means special education aides, one-on-on aides, classroom aides, those substitute teachers who are contracted to work at least 180 days, and any other positions in this bargaining unit that are not listed above as instructional assistant positions.

Section 2.05 As used in this Agreement, "employee" means a person holding a position in this bargaining unit.

Article 3. NEGOTIATING PROCEDURES

Section 3.01 Negotiations for a successor agreement shall be conducted pursuant to N.H.RSA 273-A, Public Employees Labor Relations Law.

Section 3.02 In the event of an impasse, the cost for the services of the mediator, including per diem expenses, if any, and actual and necessary travel and subsistence expenses, will be equally shared by the Board and the Association.

Section 3.03 Nothing in this article shall be construed to prohibit the Association and the Board from reaching agreement at any time between the declaring of impasse and the Annual Meeting.

Section 3.04 The Association will notify the School Board of its intent to negotiate no later than September 15 of the year before the expiration of this Agreement.

Article 4. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Section 4.01 The School Board, subject only to the language of this Agreement, reserves to itself full jurisdiction and authority over matters of policy and retains the unrestricted right:

- (a) to direct and manage all activities of the School District;
- (b) to direct the work of employees;
- (c) to hire, promote, transfer, assign and retain employees in positions within the School District, to non-renew employees, and to suspend, demote, discharge, withhold wage increases, or take any other disciplinary action against the employees;
- (d) to act unilaterally, including by adoption of rule or regulation, on any and all matters not excluded by RSA 273-A, provided said act, rule, or regulation, does not conflict with or violate any of the express terms of this Agreement;
- (e) to maintain the efficiency of government operations;
- (f) to relieve employees from duties because of lack of work or for other reasons within the parameters of this agreement;
- (g) to determine the methods, means and personnel by which operations are to be conducted;
- (h) to contract with companies or agencies for services to be provided by employees of those companies or agencies when the District is experiencing staff shortages or for other reasons, such as the need to fill critical positions/vacancies and/or specialized instructional areas. This may include services that otherwise might be performed by bargaining unit employees. It is understood that in no circumstance shall contracting out result in the layoff of existing employees; and
- (i) to take actions as may be necessary to carry out the mission of the District in emergencies.

Section 4.02 The parties understand that the School Board may not lawfully delegate the power or authority, which, by law, is vested in it, nor may the Superintendent lawfully delegate the power or authority which, by law, is vested in him/her; and this Agreement shall not be construed so as to constitute a delegation of the power or authority of either. The term "law" as used above shall include, but not be limited to, regulations lawfully adopted by the New Hampshire State Board of Education.

Article 5. ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

- Section 5.01 The Association may post notices addressed to employees on bulletin boards in teachers' rooms in each school. No Association notice shall be posted on or around the School District's property except on such bulletin board, and no notice shall be posted until it has been signed by the appropriate Association representative.
- Section 5.02 The Association may be granted the use of employee mailboxes and e-mail addresses for communication.
- Section 5.03 The Association may, in accordance with Board policy, be granted the privilege of using specific items of school office equipment at times when such equipment is not otherwise in use, provided that all paper and supplies to be used are supplied by the Association, and further provided that the Association accepts the financial responsibility for any damage or maintenance charge which is incurred by such use.
- Section 5.04 The Association Co-Presidents shall be given an opportunity to speak to the Exeter Cooperative Paraprofessional employees immediately preceding or no longer than thirty (30) minutes following the scheduled orientation activities as coordinated with the Superintendent or designee.
- Section 5.05 Representatives of the Local, State and National Associations shall be permitted to meet with Association members concerning Association business on school property at reasonable times, provided that this shall not disrupt normal school operations, and that the representatives shall follow established procedures for school visitors and Board regulations regarding the use of facilities.
- Section 5.06 If the NEA-NH Assembly of Delegates is limited to one (1) day in any given year, the Association shall be entitled to have one (1) member released without loss of pay to attend such meeting.
- (a) One of the Co-Presidents of the Association or their designee shall be released at full pay the equivalent of two (2) days per year for Association business.
- (b) The total days for this section not to exceed three (3) days.
- Section 5.07 If an administrator meets with a paraprofessional employee to discipline that employee, and that employee requests, he/she shall be entitled to have a representative from the Association present at the meeting. The administrator, when scheduling the meeting shall inform the paraprofessional employee that the meeting is disciplinary. If the professional employee chooses to have an Association representative present, the administrator will make arrangements for coverage for that representative, if necessary.

Section 5.08 When public information is available and is requested by the Association from the School District office, this information shall be provided within a reasonable time.

Section 5.09 The Parties agree that the District shall provide the President of the Association the following information electronically in EXCEL format or Google Sheets for each bargaining unit member annually on or before October 15th, and will update as to new hires and departing employees three (3) times (October 15, January 15, April 15) over the course of the school year.

- (a) Employee name, date of hire, position, work location, classification, salary schedule step, full- or part-time status, number of annually paid hours, wage rate, home mailing address (including street, city/town, state and zip code), home phone, stipends and work e-mail address.
- (b) Furthermore, the parties agree that during negotiation years when the Association request such information that it shall be provided within two weeks from the Association's request. For negotiation periods, the information provided shall also include data pertaining to individual bargaining unit employees elected insurance plans (e.g. Single, 2p, Family), the total cost of each plan and the total amount each employee is responsible for monthly and annually for the plan they elected.
- (c) The Association agrees that the School District will be held harmless for providing the information outlined above.

Section 5.10 When a Board policy is coming up for review or a proposed change, copies will be forwarded to the Association Co-Presidents as soon as they are available.

Section 5.11 Each paraprofessional employee upon initial employment will receive a copy of the current Agreement, including appendices.

Article 6. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Section 6.01 A grievance is defined as a claim by an employee in this bargaining unit that he/she has been harmed by violation of a specific provision of this Agreement, except that the following matters shall be excluded from the grievance procedure:

- (a) any matter for which a specific method of review is proscribed by law;
- (b) any statute, law or regulation by the State or Federal Government;
- (c) any bylaw of the School Board pertaining to its internal organization;
- (d) any matter which, according to law, is either beyond the scope of School Board authority or is limited to unilateral action by the School Board alone;

- (e) a complaint concerning evaluation of an employee's performance;
- (f) any matter listed in Article 3; and
- (g) any matter which this Agreement states shall not be subject to the grievance process.

Section 6.02 To be considered under this grievance procedure, a grievance must be filed in writing at Step 1 within thirty (30) school days of its occurrence.

- (a) Failure at any step of the grievance procedure to communicate a decision in response to a grievance within the specified time limits shall permit the aggrieved employee to proceed to the next step of the procedure. Failure at any step of this procedure to appeal a grievance to the next step within the specified time limits shall be deemed to be acceptance of the decision rendered at this step.
- (b) During the pendency of any grievance, the employee shall continue to perform all assignments and observe applicable rules.
- (c) Parties agree that grievance fillings can be submitted, moved to appropriate steps and responded to electronically

Section 6.03 Informal Procedure: Any employee who has a grievance first shall discuss it informally with his/her building principal.

Section 6.04 Formal Procedure:

- (a) Step 1: If, as a result of the informal discussion, the matter is not resolved to the satisfaction of the employee, the employee may set forth the grievance in writing to the principal. The written grievance shall specify the nature of the grievance, the date of occurrence, the specific provisions in this Agreement that allegedly were violated, and the remedies sought. The principal shall communicate his/he decision to the employee in writing within ten (10) school days of receipt of the written grievance.
- (b) Step 2: If the grievance is not adjusted to the employee's satisfaction at Step 1, the grievance may be appealed to the superintendent within five (5) school days after receipt of the principal's written decision. The appeal to the superintendent shall be in writing, shall specify the employee's dissatisfaction with the decision previously rendered. The superintendent shall communicate his/her decision in writing to the employee within twenty (20) school days after receipt of the appeal to the superintendent.
- (c) <u>Step 3</u>: If the grievance is not resolved to the employee's satisfaction at Step 2, the employee shall notify the Association and the Association will notify the Board of its intent to move to the Board level within fifteen (15)

school days of receipt of the superintendent's decision. The Board shall review the alleged grievance and shall hold a hearing within thirty (30) school days. A decision in writing shall be rendered within ten (10) school days citing the reasons therefore, and forward copies of the decision to the grievant, to the administrators involved at the previous steps of the grievance procedure and to the Association. If the Board does not render a decision within the allotted time frame the grievance shall be deemed in favor of the grievant.

(d) Step 4: Arbitration: If the decision of the Board does not resolve the grievance to the satisfaction of the grievant or if no decision is rendered within ten (10) school days of the hearing, and he/she wishes review by a third party, and if the Association determines that the matter should be reviewed further, the Association shall in writing so advise the Board through the Superintendent within ten (10) school days of receipt of the Board's decision.

Section 6.05 The following procedure shall be used to secure the services of an arbitrator.

- (a) The parties will attempt to agree upon a mutually satisfactory third party to serve as an arbitrator. If no agreement is reached within ten (10) school days following receipt of the request for arbitration, either party may request the Labor Relations Connection (LRC) assist with the selection, pursuant to its rules, to submit to the Association and the superintendent rosters of persons qualified to function as an arbitrator.
- (b) The arbitrator shall limit himself/herself to the issues submitted and shall consider nothing else. He/she shall be bound by and must comply with the terms of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall have no power to add to, delete from, or modify in any way the provisions of this Agreement.
- (c) The cost for the services of the arbitrator, including per diem expenses, actual and necessary travel, subsistence expenses and the cost of the hearing room, shall be borne equally by the School District and the Association.

Section 6.06 The arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding. The arbitrator shall issue his/her decision to the District and the Association within thirty (30) school days after close of the arbitrator's hearing.

<u>Section 6.07</u> The time periods specified in this procedure may be extended by mutual written agreement of the parties.

Section 6.08 An Association representative may be present with the grievant at formal steps of the grievance process if requested by the grievant.

Article 7. DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES

Section 7.01 No employee shall be disciplined without just cause. Before any disciplinary actions are taken, the administration will conduct an investigation. Discipline normally shall follow this order, but may be taken out of order based on the administration's assessment of the severity of the infraction:

- (a) Oral warning: An oral warning must come from the employee's direct supervisor.
- (b) Written warning: A written warning must come from the principal or his/her designee. A corrective/improvement plan will identify supports which the District will provide the employee to ensure the employee has the tools to be successful. The plan will be prepared by the principal or his/her designee and will be included in the written warning.
- (c) Suspension without pay: This will be determined by the principal or his/her designee.
- (d) Discharge: This will be determined by the Superintendent or his/her designee.

Section 7.02 Non-renewal, ending employment with fourteen (14) calendar days' notice pursuant to Section 8.1, expiration of an assignment and reduction-in-force shall not constitute discipline and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

Section 7.03 Subject to the language of this Agreement, the decision whether to suspend or discharge an employee shall rest with the Superintendent or his/her designee.

Article 8. PROBATIONARY PERIOD AND CONTINUATION OF BENEFITS

Section 8.01 Probationary Period

- (a) All newly hired employees are subject to a minimum probationary period of sixty (60) calendar days. The probationary period begins with the employee's first wage earning day on the job. Prior to the last week of the probationary period, a designated supervisor will evaluate the employee's performance and make one of the following recommendations to the Superintendent of Schools or his/her designee:
 - 1) That the employee be moved to a non-probationary status.
 - 2) That the employee continue to work for up to an additional thirty (30) calendar day probationary period followed by an updated evaluation.

3) That the employee's service be discontinued.

Section 8.02 During the probationary period, effective on date of hire, the employee will receive all benefits under this Agreement. Termination would not result in a payout to the employee or cash value.

Section 8.03 Continuation of Benefits: Benefits provided by the School District stop when the employment relationship terminates, or when an employee is no longer active on the payroll. In the case of insurance benefits, expiration occurs at the first of the month following termination or unpaid status. COBRA laws provide for a continuation of certain benefits, at the employee's expense, for various periods of time.

<u>Section 8.04</u> <u>Carrying forward Benefits</u>: When moving from a position in this bargaining unit to another position in the School District (e.g. teacher or administrator), accrued benefits will not be carried forward.

Article 9. LETTER OF AGREEMENT

Section 9.01 The School District shall provide by the first Friday in May of each year, for continuing employees only, a letter of agreement to reemploy, including the expected position, expected rate of pay, expected regularly scheduled hours per day and expected regularly scheduled days per year. The letter of agreement must be in compliance with the terms of the Collective Bargaining Agreement. The employee may end the employment at any time with or without reasons by providing fourteen (14) calendar days written notice to the other. A letter of agreement for a grant-funded position also will specify that the position is contingent upon the School District's receipt of the grant funds.

Section 9.02 Upon receiving a letter of agreement, the employee must sign and return it to the Superintendent by the last Friday in May. If an employee fails to do so, he/she will be deemed to have resigned voluntarily.

Section 9.03 Once an employee returns a letter of agreement by the last Friday in May, should a change in assignment be contemplated by the District, the employee shall be consulted prior to any change being made. In no case will a change in assignment result in an employee losing scheduled working hours or result in reduction of expected rate of pay.

Article 10. TRANSFERS

Section 10.01 When the decision to make an involuntary transfer of grade, student, subject area, school or other assignment, has been made by the Superintendent, the employee affected will be notified in writing immediately. Upon request, an employee designated for involuntary transfer shall be entitled to a meeting with the Superintendent or designee to discuss the reasons for the involuntary transfer. The transfer decision is not grievable.

Article 11. EMPLOYEE RIGHTS AND PROTECTIONS

Section 11.01 Personnel File: An employee shall have the right to review the contents of her/his file and to make copies of any documents contained therein. An employee shall be entitled to have a representative of the Association accompany her/him during such review.

Section 11.02 No unfavorable material shall be placed in the employee's personnel file unless the employee has had an opportunity to review the material and given a copy of such. The employee shall acknowledge that she/he has had the opportunity to review such materials by affixing her/his signature to the copy to be filed with the express understanding that such a signature in no way indicates agreement with the contents thereof. An employee shall have five (5) school days to acknowledge receipt of such material. If the employee does not affix her/his signature the material will be placed in the employee's personnel file with an attached notation that the employee refused to sign such material within the designated time period. An employee shall have fifteen (15) school days to submit a written answer.

It is understood that material generated by the employee has been reviewed by the employee and is not subject to the notification and rebuttal process stated in the previous paragraph.

Section 11.03 Any discipline and any adverse documentation will be removed from an employee's record four (4) years from the date of the infraction upon request provided there has be no repeat occurrences since the date of the incident that gave rise to the documentation.

Section 11.04 Statutory Savings: Nothing contained in the contract or employer policy and/or practice shall restrict the rights of an employee under state or federal law.

Article 12. WORK DAYS, HOURS, CONDITIONS

Section 12.01 It is understood by the parties that the determination of the starting time and closing time of the school day is the responsibility of the Board. A regular work day for part-time staff shall be defined as a day not to be less than 6.75 hours including the time noted in section 12.01(a). In the event the Board considers a change in the starting time or closing time of the school day, the Board will notify the employees affected by the proposed change and, upon request, will meet with a committee of employees selected by the Association of the building affected to discuss these changes.

(a) Employees at Exeter High School must be in the school ten (10) minutes prior to the start of employees assigned duties and employees are to remain in school five (5) minutes after assigned duties. Employees at the Cooperative Middle School must be in the school ten (10) minutes before

- the start of employees assigned duties, and employees are to remain in school fifteen (15) minutes after assigned duties. Permission for early departure may be granted by the administration to attend classes, meetings, or medical and dental appointments, providing such early dismissal does not disrupt the orderly operation of school activities.
- (b) Each employees expected regularly scheduled work days and work hours will be set forth in that employee's letter of agreement. Work hours for Instructional Aides and Instructional Assistants assigned to the Seacoast School of Technology may be changed to accommodate any changes to the school day.
- Section 12.02 Parking. Employees who work at the high school shall be afforded a parking option in the front parking lot of the school campus, away from the boarding process of student buses that will allow for an unobstructed departure from the school campus at the close of the school.
- Section 12.03 Occasionally, the School District may require an employee to work more hours or days than are set forth in that employee's letter of agreement. When the School District requires an employee to work extra hours and/or extra days, the employee shall be paid at the straight-time rate of pay for hours actually worked up to forty (40) in a week and shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half for hours actually worked in excess of forty (40) in a week. At the School District's discretion additional compensation may be offered for the occasional request to work outside of the regular workday.
- Section 12.04 Employees who work five (5) or more consecutive hours shall receive an unpaid lunch period of thirty (30) minutes. The lunch period shall be duty free and uninterrupted, except in emergencies.
- Section 12.05 When an unplanned delayed opening of school or an unplanned early release from school occurs (e.g., due to weather conditions), employees shall be paid for the hours lost as a result of the unplanned delayed opening or unplanned early release.
- Section 12.06 The District shall be responsible for providing employees with all necessary training and support to ensure that employees are aware of, and are equipped to comply with District policy, DOE regulation, or state or federal law germane to their job as determined by the administration. Any time the employee spends at such training, information session, or reviewing District policy at the request of the District, they shall be paid time outside of their working hours, as defined in this agreement.

Article 13. COMPENSATION

Section 13.01 Payroll:

(a) Paychecks are issued on a bi-weekly basis. Paychecks will be issued on the same day of the week throughout the school year, except that the School District may issue paychecks early (e.g., if payday falls on a holiday).

<u>Section 13.02</u> <u>Wages</u>: Wage rates for instructional assistants and instructional aides are set forth in Appendix A.

- (a) No new employee shall be hired at an hourly rate above Step 5 on the pay chart applicable to this agreement. However, exceptions may be made if the Superintendent determines that there is an unavailability of qualified candidates at the otherwise applicable wage rate, or that a candidate should receive extra credit for prior experience or degrees. If an exception is made to hire an employee above Step 5 or above an existing employee with the same experience or degrees, the Association President needs to be notified and state the reason. If a current employee is to be advanced more than one step on the grid in any year, the Superintendent will notify the Association President and state the reason.
- (b) An employee who actually worked more than fifty (50) percent of the days for that employee's position during the prior year shall receive credit for one full year of experience.
- (c) An employee may be held at step if the Superintendent concludes that the employee's performance was unsatisfactory during the prior year.
- (d) Any employee who is assigned a student who requires personal hygiene care while at school shall receive an additional \$.75 per hour. Personal hygiene care shall be interpreted to mean staff assistance provided to a student to address bodily care and/or clean-up of bodily fluids. If a student requiring such care while at school is assigned a different employee or no longer attends the school, the compensation is no longer needed.
- (e) Any member of the bargaining unit who possesses a Registered Behavior Technician (RBT) license and is assigned to a student will receive an additional \$1.00 per hour increase. The Board will reimburse the employee for the cost of the examination upon successful completion.
- (f) Paraprofessionals shall be provided a stipend of \$300.00 for mentoring one (1) paraprofessional and a stipend of \$600 for mentoring two (2) paraprofessionals. No Paraprofessional will provide mentoring for more than two (2) paraprofessionals at a time. The stipend will be paid in two equal payments in January and June. The stipend will only be prorated when the mentor or mentee work less than a full year. Mentoring will be provided to all new paraprofessionals who are new to the District, if a

sufficient number of mentors are available. The administration will determine if a paraprofessional who transfers to a new building will need the assistance of a mentor. Mentor guidelines as agreed to by the parties will be maintained by administration and provided to mentors as appointed.

(g) Anytime a Paraprofessional, who was not hired as a Permanent Sub, is assigned to teach a class because a teacher or substitute teacher is unavailable, they will receive one (1) hour of the current substitute teach rate per day, in addition to regular Paraprofessional wages per class; up to two (2) classes.

Any Paraprofessional wanting to receive credit towards certification for the hours worked as a Teacher shall be responsible for keeping a log of hours worked.

Section 13.03 Overtime: Overtime will be paid at a rate of time and one half for all hours actually worked in excess of forty (40) hours per week. Departmental supervisors must approve, in advance, all overtime hours. Employees required to work during a paid holiday will be compensated at the rate of time and one half in addition to their holiday pay. Personal and bereavement hours do not count toward overtime calculations.

Section 13.04 Longevity: To recognize employees who have completed five (5) or more years of consecutive service, a longevity payment will be made based on the following schedule:

- (a) During consecutive years of service 6-8, employees will receive one percent (1%) of their prior fiscal year's earnings (July 1st to June 30th).
- (b) During consecutive years of service 9-11, employees will receive two percent (2%) of their prior fiscal year's earnings.
- (c) During consecutive years of service 12-17, employees will receive three percent (3%) of their prior fiscal year's earnings.
- (d) During consecutive years of service 18-22, employees will receive four percent (4%) of their prior fiscal year's earnings.
- (e) After 22 years of consecutive service, employees will receive five percent (5%) of their prior fiscal year's earnings.

Section 13.05 Longevity payments will be made on the first pay period in December. To be eligible to receive this payment, an employee must have completed five (5) consecutive years of service prior to September 30th of the payment year and still be employed by the District at the time of distribution in December. (Probationary time will be counted for longevity purposes. This is the only benefit area where this exception applies).

Article 14. INSURANCE

Section 14.01 Health Insurance:

- (a) The District shall offer the following health insurance plan to employees who work at least thirty (30) hours per week and at least 180 days per year:
 - 1) Blue Choice POS Plan (BC3T20-Rx \$10/\$20/\$45/\$3k)
 - 2) Access Blue HMO (AB15IPDED Rx \$10/\$20/\$45/\$3k)
- (b) For eligible employees the District will contribute an amount equal to seventy percent (70%) of the premium for the Access Blue HMO Plan oneperson coverage.
- (c) If an eligible employee selects a higher cost plan or more than one-person coverage, the employee shall pay the difference between the cost of the selected plan and coverage and the dollar amount paid by the District under Section 14.01(b).
- (d) An eligible employee who does not elect medical coverage through the District shall be eligible to receive a one-time yearly payment of \$400.00, providing proof of medical coverage through another plan.

Section 14.02 Long Term Disability: The District will provide long term disability insurance for each employee who has completed the probationary period and who works at least 25 hours per week. The payment of the disability insurance to begin on the ninety-first (91) day of disability an amount equal to sixty-six and two-thirds (66 2/3) of the annual salary of the employee at the date of disability. Said insurance will run until the age of seventy (70) and shall be coordinated with Social Security benefits. Should, due to special or unforeseen events, disability coverage be terminated by the provider before the employee reaches seventy (70), the District and the Association will meet to negotiate an equitable settlement for the employee.

Section 14.03 Life Insurance: For each employee who works at least thirty (30) hours per week and at least 180 days per year, the District shall pay 100 percent of the premium for a \$25,000 term life insurance policy.

Article 15. LEAVES

Section 15.01 Sick Leave

(a) Employees who work at least thirty (30) hours per week and at least 180 days per year shall receive ten (10) paid sick days at the start of the school year, up to maximum accrual of seventy-five (75) days.

- (b) Employees who work at least 180 days per year, but less than thirty (30) hours per week, shall receive five (5) paid sick days at the start of the school year, up to a maximum accrual of fifty (50) days.
- (c) Sick leave is interpreted to mean absence from school due to sickness or medical needs of the employee. Sick leave maybe used for the sickness or medical needs of the employee's immediate family. Immediate family includes spouse, child, mother, father, or blood relative/ward residing in the same house. Use of sick leave for the purpose of taking care of immediate family will be limited to fifteen (15) days per school year, provided that sick leave is available to the employee. Unused sick time for this purpose would not accrue.
- (d) Unused sick days are not compensable.
- (e) Resignation or termination will not result in a payout to the employee or cash value.

Section 15.02 Sick Bank:

- (a) Employees in this bargaining unit will be afforded the opportunity to participate in a sick leave bank. The purpose of the sick bank is to provide financial assistance to an employee who is experiencing an emergency situation. All available personal, and accrued sick time must be exhausted prior to receiving sick bank time.
- (b) The following guidelines have been established for the administration of the sick leave bank:
 - 1) Sick bank contributions are on a strictly voluntary basis.
 - 2) The sick bank year shall run from October 1st thru September 30th,
 - 3) Eligibility to draw from the sick bank is predicated on the employee having contributed hours toward the year in which the request is made. For returning employees, contributions to the sick bank must be made by September 30th, of each new school year. Newly hired employees wishing to contribute to the sick bank must do so within sixty (60) days of attaining non-probationary status.
 - 4) Employees wishing to participate in the sick bank must donate one full day (expressed in hours) of sick time. Sick day value is based on the number of hours assigned to a position weekly divided by a five (5) day workweek. Example: A twenty (20) hour per week employee makes a four (4) hour contribution with a four (4) hour draw value.

- Requests for sick bank time must be submitted in writing and a doctor's note detailing the extent of the ailment may be requested by the review committee.
- 6) A committee consisting of three (3) voting members appointed by the Association and two (2) voting members appointed by the School Board shall be responsible for approving sick bank requests. The Director of Human Resources also shall be included as a non-voting member of the committee.
- 7) The committee will furnish the Director of Human Resources with the names and donations of all contributors by October 15 of each year.
- 8) The sick bank committee will accept requests for up to ten (10) paid sick days per submission. Employees seeking more than the ten-day maximum must submit a second request for additional consideration.
- 9) Should the sick bank fall below (ten) 10 days in any contract year, all eligible employees may contribute an additional day.
- 10) Decisions of the committee regarding requests for paid sick bank time are final, and shall not be subject to the grievance process.

Section 15.03 Personal Leave:

- (a) Employees who work at least ninty-one (91) to 180 days per year may use up to two (2) personal days per school year.
- (b) Personal leave may be taken for personal business that cannot be conducted outside school hours. The employee shall provide at least forty-eight (48) hours advance notice to the principal of the need to take personal leave, except in emergencies.
- (c) Personal leave immediately prior to or following a holiday or extended break is discouraged. Any paraprofessional employee requesting personal leave days prior to or immediately following a holiday or an extended break must obtain approval from the Superintendent through the building principal; such requests will not be unreasonably withheld.
- (d) Personal days may not be accumulated and carried over year-to-year. An employee who has not used their two (2) personal days over the course of the school year shall receive the equivalent of two (2) days sub para pay.

Section 15.04 Bereavement Days:

- (a) Employees who work at least 180 days per year are permitted to take up to three (3) paid days per occurrence for deaths in the immediate family. The "immediate family" means the employee's spouse, children, step-children, parents, step-parents, parents-in-law, grandparents, siblings, step-siblings, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law or blood relative.
- (b) Bereavement leave may not be accumulated and carried over year-to-year. Unused bereavement days are not compensable.

Section 15.05 Holidays:

- (a) Employees who work at least 180 days per year shall receive the following paid holidays:
 - 1) New Year's Day
 - 2) Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
 - 3) President's Day
 - 4) Memorial Day
 - 5) Juneteenth
 - 6) Veteran's Day
 - 7) Thanksgiving Day
 - 8) Day after Thanksgiving
 - 9) Christmas Day
- (b) Labor Day also will be a paid holiday if the employee's work schedule requires the employee to begin working prior to the first day for students. Columbus Day also will be a paid holiday when there is no school that day.
- (c) Holidays which fall on a weekend will be celebrated on the following Monday unless otherwise stated by the Superintendent of Schools. A holiday which may not conform to the school calendar (i.e. President's Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day) may be celebrated on the Monday of February and April vacation weeks respectively, unless otherwise stated by the Superintendent of Schools. Additional holidays may be observed as authorized by the Superintendent of Schools.

Section 15.06 Jury Duty Leave: An employee called to serve as a juror will be paid the difference between the fee he/she receives for such service and the employee's regular pay, computed at the straight time rate, up to a maximum of ten (10) work days. Satisfactory evidence of the time served and the fees paid to the employee for jury duty must be submitted to the employee's immediate supervisor. On any day that an employee is released from jury duty prior to the end of that employee's regular School District work day, the employee shall report to the School District for work.

Section 15.07 Unpaid Leave: Unpaid leave may be granted for reasons other than those stated above at the sole discretion of the Superintendent or his/her designee. The Superintendent's or designee's decision shall not be subject to the provisions of the grievance procedure.

Article 16. EVALUATIONS

Section 16.01 A designated supervisor will evaluate an employee a minimum of once per year.

No later than the end of February, administration shall conduct a mid-year formative performance assessment. Final employee evaluations shall be provided to an employee no later than the first week of May each school year.

The evaluation will be shared with the employee, and then will become part of the employee's personnel file. Changes to the evaluation process shall, upon adoption by the School Board, be sent to the Association president.

Article 17. DUES AND DEDUCTIONS

Section 17.01 Upon individual written authorization by an employee who is a member of the Association, the District agrees to deduct from the pay of such employee the current Association dues, as certified to the District by the Treasurer of the Association. Said deductions shall be made each pay period in which the employee's paycheck is large enough to satisfy the deduction. The District shall forward the amount so collected to the Association at least once per month. If an employee desires to end their Association membership and cease dues deductions, the employee will submit the written request to the Association and the Association will notify the District to cease deductions.

However, should an employee elect to notify the District directly in writing that he/she is withdrawing a previous authorization for dues deductions, the District shall cease deducting dues from said employee. Upon receiving such notice, the District shall inform the Association that dues deductions for the employee has been ended per the employee request.

Section 17.02 Should there be a dispute between an employee and the Association over the matter of deductions, the Association agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the District in any such dispute.

Article 18. REDUCTION IN FORCE

Section 18.01 The Board and administration shall have the authority to determine the number and qualifications of employees in each job classification.

Section 18.02 In the event the Board and administration determine that it is necessary to conduct a reduction in force, the administration shall initially attempt to determine the number of possible resignations and retirements within each job classification in a good faith effort to avoid potentially unnecessary layoffs.

Section 18.03 If further reduction in force is necessary within a job classification, the administration shall choose employees for layoff within that job classification based upon assessment of the employee's qualifications, experience and performance based upon the employee's last two evaluations. If all these factors are equal in the judgment of the Superintendent or his/her designee, the employee(s) with the least seniority shall be laid off first from that job classification.

Section 18.04

- (a) Any employee who has been selected for Reduction in Force shall remain on a recall list with the District for a period of two (2) years. It shall be the employee's responsibility to keep the District updated as to their current address and contact information if they wish to be recalled.
- (b) No new hires shall be brought on in the District during the two (2) year recall period if there are still laid off employees awaiting recall.
- (c) Any employee who fails to accept recall to their position in the District shall be removed from the recall list.
- (d) Upon recall an employee shall have at minimum all benefits, protections and ages restored to them, as they were at the time of layoff.

Section 18.05 Definitions:

- (a) "Job Classifications" are computer lab assistants, alternative education assistants, substitute teachers who are contracted to work at least 180 days, classroom aides, one-on-one aides and special education aides.
- (b) "Seniority" shall be calculated from the date that an employee commenced his/her current term of continuous employment by the School District in a position in this bargaining unit.

Article 19. COURSE REIMBURSEMENT AND WORKSHOPS

Section 19.01 For courses and workshops that the School District approves in advance, the School District agrees to provide reimbursement as follows:

- (a) Courses and workshops must be work related and approved in advance by both the building Principal and the Superintendent.
- (b) The reimbursement shall be paid to the employee upon presentation of a certificate of satisfactory completion of the course or workshop.
- (c) The employee must have been employed for a minimum of one year to be eligible for course tuition reimbursement.
- (d) Subject to Section 19.2, the School District will provide course tuition reimbursement of for up to three (3) credit hours per employee per school year up to the University of New Hampshire in-state tuition rate.
- (e) Subject to Section 19.2, the School District will provide workshop tuition reimbursement of up to \$200 per employee per school year.
- (f) Requests for reimbursement for courses and workshops shall be submitted to Human Resources upon completion of the course. Reimbursement shall be issued to the employee at the conclusion of the next regular payroll cycle, after submission of reimbursement request by the employee.

Section 19.02 In no event shall the District spend more than \$14,000 in under Article 19.

Article 20. RETIREMENT

Section 20.01 The District agrees to facilitate employees' regular deductions for up to three (3) tax sheltered annuity programs (managed by the current third party vendor) requested by the Association. Such deductions can be initiated or changed once between April 1st and December 1st and once between December 1st and April 1st.

Section 20.02 Upon retirement, employees who work at least thirty (30) hours per week and at least 180 days per year shall receive a payment of \$200 for each full year of service to the School District. Employees who work at least 180 days per year, but fewer than (thirty) 30 hours per week, shall receive a payment of \$100 for each full year of service to the School District. This payment will be contingent upon meeting the following conditions:

(a) The employee must be at least fifty-five (55) years of age at the time of retirement.

- (b) The employee must have worked for the School District at least ten (10) consecutive years prior to retiring.
- (c) The employee must provide written notice of his/her intent to retire at least sixty (60) days prior to their last day of work.

Article 21. MISCELLANEOUS

Section 21.01 <u>Mileage Reimbursement</u>: Employees using their own vehicles at the School District's request shall be reimbursed for their mileage at the Internal Revenue Service rate.

Section 21.02 First Aid Kit: The School District shall provide an accessible first aid kit.

Article 22. SEPARABILITY

Section 22.01 If any provision of this Agreement is held to be contrary to law, all other provisions shall continue in force and effect. In such instance, The School Board and the Association shall meet within a reasonable amount of time of such legal determination for the purpose of negotiating possible modifications to the Agreement.

Article 23. DURATION

Section 23.01 This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from July 1, 2022, through June 30, 2026.

In witness whereof, the parties have caused this representatives this day of Apr	Agreement to be signed by their duly authorized ril 20 22
Exeter Cooperative Paraprofessional Assoc.	Exeter Region Cooperative School Board
Nicole Argraves Chairperson – Negotiations	Chairperson – Negotiations

SIDE BAR AGREEMENT

- 1. As soon as the payroll system can accommodate, payroll checks shall include a stub which contains the following items for the payroll period covered by the check: hours worked, current straight time hourly rate of pay, date, gross wages, year to date, net pay, itemized deductions, sick leave used per pay period, sick leave balance, personal days used per pay period and personal days balance.
- 2. In the event hours change for the school, Article 12, Section 12.01(a) will be reopened for discussion and agreement.

Agreement between ECPA and ERCSB 2022-2026

Appendix A

Exeter Cooperative Paraprofessional Aides Salary Schedule for 2022 - 2026 Exeter Cooperative Paraprofessional Assistants Salary Schedule for 2022 - 2026

2022 -	Α	В	Ċ	D	2022 -	A	B	c	D
Steps	Base for Alde	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree	Bachelor Degree	Masters Degree	Steps	Base for Assistant s	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree	Bachelor Degree	Masters Degree
1	\$16.42	\$16.67	\$16.93	\$17.19	1	\$17.04	\$17.29	\$17.55	\$17.81
2	\$16.98	\$17.24	\$17.50	\$17.76	2	\$17.72	\$17.98	\$18.24	\$18.50
3	\$17.56	\$17.82	\$18.08	\$18.34	3	\$18.40	\$18.66	\$18.92	\$19.18
4	\$18.13	\$18.39	\$18.65	\$18.91	4	\$19.09	\$19.34	\$19.60	\$19.86
5	\$18.70	\$18.96	\$19.22	\$19.48	5	\$19.78	\$20.04	\$20.30	\$20.56
6	\$19.27	\$19.53	\$19.79	\$20.05	6	\$20.46	\$20.72	\$20.98	\$21.24
7	\$19.84	\$20.10	\$20,36	\$20.62	7	\$21.15	\$21.40	\$21.66	\$21.92
8	\$20.42	\$20.68	\$20.94	\$21.20	8	\$21.83	\$22.09	\$22.35	\$22.60
9	\$20.99	\$21,25	\$21.51	\$21.77	9	\$22.52	\$22.78	\$23.04	\$23.30
10	\$21.55	\$21.81	\$22.07	\$22.32	10	\$23.20	\$23,46	\$23.72	\$23.98
2023 -		David State		and the state of	2023 -	NAME OF STREET			75.50.00
2023 - 	A Base for Alde	B Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree	Bachelor Degree	D Masters Degree	2023 - 2024 Steps	A Base for Assistant s	B Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree	C Bachelor Degree	D Masters Degree
2024	Base for	Para Cert. /Assoc.	Bachelor	Masters	2024	Base for Assistant	Para Cert. /Assoc.	Bachelor	Masters
2024 Steps	Base for Alde	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree	Bachelor Degree	Masters Degree	2024 Steps	Base for Assistant 5	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree	Bachelor Degree	Masters Degree
Steps	Base for Alde \$17.07	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.34	Bachelor Degree \$17.61	Masters Degree \$17.88	2024 Steps	Base for Assistant 5 \$17.72	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.99	Bachelor Degree \$18.26	Masters Degree \$18.52
2024 Steps 1 2	Base for Alde \$17.07 \$17.66	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.34 \$17.93	Bachelor Degree \$17.61 \$18.20	Masters Degree \$17.88 \$18.47	2024 5teps 1 2	Base for Assistant 5 \$17.72 \$18.43	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.99 \$18.70	Bachelor Degree \$18,26 \$18.97	Masters Degree \$18.52 \$19.24
2024 Steps 1 2 3	Base for Alde \$17.07 \$17.66 \$18.27	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.34 \$17.93 \$18.54	\$17.61 \$18.20 \$18.80	Masters Degree \$17.88 \$18.47 \$19.07	2024 Steps 1 2 3	Base for Assistant 5 \$17.72 \$18.43 \$19.14	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.99 \$18.70 \$19.41	\$18,26 \$18,97 \$19,68	Masters Degree \$18.52 \$19.24 \$19.95
2024 Steps 1 2 3 4	\$17.07 \$17.66 \$18.27 \$18.86	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.34 \$17.93 \$18.54 \$19.13	\$17.61 \$18.20 \$19.40	Masters Degree \$17.88 \$18.47 \$19.07 \$19.67	2024 Steps 1 2 3 4	Base for Assistant 5 \$17.72 \$18.43 \$19.14 \$19.85	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.99 \$18.70 \$19.41 \$20.12	\$18.26 \$18.97 \$19.68 \$20.39	Masters Degree \$18.52 \$19.24 \$19.95 \$20.66
2024 Steps 1 2 3 4 5	\$17.07 \$17.66 \$18.27 \$18.86 \$19.45	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.34 \$17.93 \$18.54 \$19.13	\$17.61 \$18.20 \$18.80 \$19.40 \$19.99	Masters Degree \$17.88 \$18.47 \$19.07 \$19.67 \$20.26	2024 Steps 1 2 3 4 5	Base for Assistant 5 \$17.72 \$18.43 \$19.14 \$19.85 \$20.57	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.99 \$18.70 \$19.41 \$20.12 \$20.84	\$18.26 \$18.97 \$19.68 \$20.39 \$21.11	Masters Degree \$18.52 \$19.24 \$19.95 \$20.66 \$21.38
2024 Steps 1 2 3 4 5	\$17.07 \$17.66 \$18.27 \$18.86 \$19.45 \$20.04	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.34 \$17.93 \$18.54 \$19.13 \$19.72 \$20.31	\$17.61 \$18.20 \$18.80 \$19.40 \$19.99 \$20.58	Masters Degree \$17.88 \$18.47 \$19.07 \$19.67 \$20.26 \$20.85	2024 Steps 1 2 3 4 5	Base for Assistant 5 \$17.72 \$18.43 \$19.14 \$19.85 \$20.57 \$21.28	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.99 \$18.70 \$19.41 \$20.12 \$20.84 \$21.55	\$18.26 \$18.97 \$19.68 \$20.39 \$21.11 \$21.82	Masters Degree \$18.52 \$19.24 \$19.95 \$20.66 \$21.38 \$22.09
2024 Steps 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	\$17.07 \$17.66 \$18.27 \$18.86 \$19.45 \$20.04 \$20.63	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.34 \$17.93 \$18.54 \$19.13 \$19.72 \$20.31 \$20.90	\$17.61 \$18.20 \$18.80 \$19.40 \$19.99 \$20.58	Masters Degree \$17.88 \$18.47 \$19.07 \$19.67 \$20.26 \$20.85 21.44	2024 Steps 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	Base for Assistant 5 \$17.72 \$18.43 \$19.14 \$19.85 \$20.57 \$21.28 \$21.99	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree \$17.99 \$18.70 \$19.41 \$20.12 \$20.84 \$21.55 \$22.26	\$18.26 \$18.97 \$19.68 \$20.39 \$21.11 \$21.82 \$22.53	Masters Degree \$18.52 \$19.24 \$19.95 \$20.66 \$21.38 \$22.09 \$22.80

Agreement between ECPA and ERCSB 2022-2026

Exeter Cooperative Paraprofessional Aides Salary Schedule for 2022 - 2026

Exeter Cooperative Paraprofessional Assistants Salary Schedule for 2022 - 2026

2024 - 2025	Α	В	C	D	2024 - 2025	A	В	ĉ (D
Steps	Base for Alde	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree	Bachelor Degree	Masters Degree	Steps	Base for Assistant s	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree	8achelor Degree	Masters Degree
1	\$17.58	\$17.86	\$18.14	\$18.42	1	\$18.25	\$18.53	\$18.80	\$19.08
2	\$18.19	\$18.47	\$18.75	\$19.03	2	\$18.98	\$19.26	\$19.54	\$19.81
3	\$18.81	\$19.09	\$19.37	\$19.65	3	\$19.71	\$19.99	\$20.27	\$20.54
4	\$19.42	\$19.70	\$19.98	\$20.26	4	\$20.44	\$20.72	\$21,00	\$21.28
5	\$20.03	\$20.31	\$20.59	\$20.87	5	\$21.19	\$21,46	\$21.74	\$22.02
6	\$20.64	\$20.92	\$21.20	\$21.48	6	\$21.92	\$22.20	\$22.47	\$22.75
7	\$21.25	\$21.53	\$21.81	\$22.09	7	\$22.65	\$22.93	\$23.20	\$23.48
8	\$21.87	\$22,15	\$22.43	\$22.71	8	\$23.38	\$23.66	\$23,94	\$24.21
9	\$22.48	\$22.76	\$23.04	\$23.32	9	\$24.13	\$24.40	\$24.68	\$24.96
10	\$23.08	\$23.36	\$23.64	\$23.91	10	\$24.86	\$25.13	\$25.41	\$25.69
2025 - 2026	A	В	c	p	2025 - 2026	A A	8	c	D
Steps	Base for Alde	Para Cert. /Assoc. Degree	Bachelor Degree	Masters Degree	Steps	Base for Assistant	Para Cert. /Assoc, Degree	Bachelor Degree	Masters Degree
1	\$18.11	\$18.40	\$18.68	\$18.97	1	\$18.80	\$19.08	\$19.37	\$19.65
2	\$18.74	\$19.02	\$19.31	\$19.60	2	\$19.55	\$19.84	\$20.12	\$20,41
3	\$19.38	\$19.66	\$19.95	\$20,24	3	\$20.30	\$20,59	\$20.87	\$21.16
4	\$20.01	\$20.29	\$20.58	\$20.86	4	\$21.06	\$21.34	\$21.63	\$21,91
5	\$20.64	\$20.92	\$21.21	\$21.49	5	\$21.82	\$22.11	\$23.39	\$22.68
6	\$21.26	\$21.55	\$21.83	\$22.12	6	\$22.58	\$22.86	\$23.15	\$23.43
7	\$21.89	\$22.18	\$22.46	\$22.75	7	\$23,33	\$23.62	\$23.90	\$24.19
8	\$22.53	\$22.82	\$23.10	\$23.39	8	\$24.08	\$24.37	\$24.65	\$24.94
9	\$23.16	\$23,44	\$23.73	\$24.02	9	\$24.85	\$25.13	\$25.42	\$25.71
9	,	4	,	44.1144	•	727.00	4=0.20	753,75	700.72